FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/14/2018 10:04 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>95600-6</u>

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 48970-8-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION TWO OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

LA INVESTORS, LLC d/b/a LOCAL RECORDS OFFICE and ROBERTO ROMERO, a/k/a JUAN ROBERTO ROMERO ASCENCION, individually and as a Member and Manager of LA INVESTORS, LLC, and on behalf of the marital community comprised of Roberto Romero and Laura Romero; and LAURA ROMERO, individually and as a Member and Manager of LA INVESTORS, LLC, and on behalf of the marital community comprised of Roberto Romero and Laura Romero,

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners are LA Investors, LLC d/b/a Local Records Office (LRO) and Juan Roberto Romero Ascencion (collectively, "LRO").

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

LRO seeks review of the published decision of the Court of Appeals, Division Two, filed February 13, 2018. A copy of the slip opinion is attached.

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. For purposes of determining whether an act or practice is "deceptive" under RCW 19.86.020, are the issues of a communication's meaning and its capacity to deceive reasonable consumers *always* questions of law, or are they questions of fact where conflicting evidence is presented?
- 2. If capacity to deceive is a question of law, may courts nevertheless consider evidence extrinsic to the communication, such as expert and consumer testimony, in deciding that question?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2012 through 2016, LRO sent a mailer to Washington residents who had recently purchased or refinanced real property. The mailer offered a product for purchase—a copy of the deed for the property and a customized "property profile." Anyone who actually read the mailer could immediately discern that it was a solicitation. The mailer affirmatively described the product offering and repeatedly stated, clearly and prominently, that LRO was not affiliated with any government agency and that the mailer was a solicitation and not a bill. CP 713-19.

The State sued LRO in Thurston County Superior Court under the Washington Consumer Protection Act (CPA), chapter 19.86 RCW, alleging the mailer was likely to mislead reasonable consumers who received it to conclude it was a bill from a government agency. CP 5-28. The State moved for summary judgment that the mailer was deceptive and sought an injunction, civil penalties, and restitution. CP 319-43. LRO cross-moved for summary judgment that the mailer, as a matter of law, was not deceptive. CP 821-40. Notably, a trial court in Indiana had previously found after a bench trial that LRO's mailer did not violate Indiana's Deceptive Consumer Solicitation Act. CP 994-1007.

The parties submitted conflicting evidence, including expert testimony, on the issue of capacity to deceive reasonable consumers. The State's expert, psychology professor Anthony R. Pratkanis, Ph.D., opined that reasonable consumers would likely be deceived by LRO's mailer and that the response rate achieved by the mailer was evidence of deception. CP 745-62. LRO's expert, marketing professor Albert V. Bruno, Ph.D., disputed Dr. Pratkanis's opinions. CP 1032-49.

The court entered summary judgment in the State's favor, entered an injunction, and entered a judgment of over \$3.6 million in civil penalties, restitution, attorney's fees, and costs. CP 1180-85, 1300-14. In its decision affirming the judgment, the Court of Appeals held that the capacity of a communication to deceive reasonable consumers is always a question of law. Slip Op. at 12-13. The court then considered expert and consumer testimony in its analysis of that question. Slip. Op. at 13-19.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

- A. Under federal law, which the legislature has directed should guide interpretation of Washington's Consumer Protection Act, an advertisement's meaning and its capacity to deceive reasonable consumers are fact questions.
 - 1. Washington courts adopted their test for whether a communication has the capacity to deceive reasonable consumers from federal law.

Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission (FTC) Act declares unlawful all "unfair or deceptive acts or practices in or affecting commerce." 15 U.S.C. § 45(a)(1). Twenty-eight states have enacted laws analogous to the FTC Act, commonly called "Little FTC Acts." Washington adopted its version, chapter 19.86 (the CPA), in 1961. The legislature stated its intent that the courts, in construing the CPA, "be guided by final decisions of the federal courts and final orders of the federal trade commission interpreting the various federal statutes dealing with the same or similar matters[.]" RCW 19.86.920. Although federal decisions are not binding, this Court has looked to federal law to interpret the CPA in many instances.

For example, Washington adopted its test for whether a communication is "deceptive" under RCW 19.86.020 from federal decisions involving the FTC. Before 1983, the federal test was phrased as whether the communication had "the tendency and capacity to deceive a substantial portion of the purchasing public." *Exposition Press, Inc. v. F.T.C.*, 295 F.2d 869, 872 (2d Cir. 1961). The Washington Court of Appeals, Division Three, adopted that test in 1976. *Fisher v. World-Wide Trophy Outfitters, Ltd.*, 15 Wn. App. 742, 748, 551 P.2d 1398 (1976) ("To constitute a deceptive

practice, the advertisement need only have a tendency or *capacity* to deceive a substantial portion of the purchasing public.") (citing *Exposition Press*). Soon after, also citing federal law, this Court adopted the test. *State v. Ralph Williams' Nw. Chrysler Plymouth, Inc.*, 87 Wn.2d 298, 317, 553 P.2d 423 (1976) (citing *Vacu-Matic Carburetor Co. v. F.T.C.*, 157 F.2d 711 (7th Cir. 1946)); *see also Haner v. Quincy Farm Chemicals, Inc.*, 97 Wn.2d 753, 759, 649 P.2d 828 (1982) (citing *Fisher*, 15 Wn. App. at 748).

The FTC reworded its test in 1983, and the federal courts adopted the new phrasing. *F.T.C. v. Pantron I Corp.*, 33 F.3d 1088, 1095 (9th Cir. 1994) (citing *Matter of Cliffdale Assocs.*, 103 F.T.C. 110, 164-65 (1984) (incorporating *FTC Policy Statement on Deception* dated Oct. 14, 1983)). The test now evaluates whether a representation "is likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably in the circumstances." *Id.* This Court adopted the rephrased federal test in 2009. *Panag v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Wash.*, 166 Wn.2d 27, 50, 204 P.3d 885, 895 (2009) (analyzing whether "there is a representation, omission or practice that is likely to mislead' a reasonable consumer") (quoting *Sw. Sunsites, Inc. v. F.T.C.*, 785 F.2d 1431, 1435 (9th Cir. 1986)).

¹ The Court of Appeals in *Fisher* observed that the trial court's determination that the defendant's advertisements were deceptive was a *finding of fact* (deemed a verity as it was unchallenged on appeal). 15 Wn. App. at 748.

² An unfair or deceptive act may be established in any of three ways. The State may establish that the defendant: (1) violated a statute the legislature has declared to be a per se violation of the CPA, (2) committed an act or practice not regulated by statute but in violation of public interest, or (3) committed an act or practice that has the capacity to deceive a substantial portion of the public. *Klem v. Wash. Mut. Bank*, 176 Wn.2d 771, 787, 295 P.3d 1179 (2013). Only the last method of proof is pertinent here.

This Court has looked to federal cases for guidance in applying the test for capacity to deceive. *See, e.g., Panag*, 166 Wn.2d at 47; *Boeing Co. v. Sierracin Corp.*, 108 Wn.2d 38, 54-56, 738 P.2d 665 (1987); *Johnston v. Beneficial Mgmt. Corp. of Am.*, 85 Wn.2d 637, 643, 538 P.2d 510, 515 (1975); *State v. Ralph Williams' Nw. Chrysler Plymouth, Inc.*, 82 Wn.2d 265, 271, 510 P.2d 233 (1973). "In directing courts to be 'guided by' federal law, the Legislature presumably intended to minimize conflict between the enforcement of state and federal antitrust laws and to avoid subjecting Washington businesses to divergent regulatory approaches to the same conduct." *Blewett v. Abbott Labs.*, 86 Wn. App. 782, 787, 938 P.2d 842 (1997). Thus, "[a]ny departure from federal law...must be for a reason rooted in our own statutes or case law and not in the general policy arguments that [a] court would weigh if the issue came before [it] as a matter of first impression." *Id.*

2. Federal cases are uniform: a communication's meaning and capacity to deceive reasonable consumers are fact questions.

Capacity to deceive depends on the "net impression" a communication conveys to a reasonable consumer. *Panag*, 166 Wn.2d at 50 (quoting *F.T.C. v. Cyberspace.Com, LLC*, 453 F.2d 1196, 1200 (9th Cir. 2006)). The determination may involve potentially disputed evidence, including "a survey 'of what consumers thought upon reading the

advertisement in question,' ...consumer testimony, expert opinion, and copy tests of ads." *Kraft, Inc. v. F.T.C.*, 970 F.2d 311, 318 (7th Cir. 1992).³

Federal courts uniformly hold that capacity to deceive is a question of fact, to be determined by the trier of fact. The courts have distinguished between contracts, which judges can interpret as a matter of law, and "advertisements, which judges are not trained to interpret." *F.T.C. v. AMG Servs., Inc.*, 29 F. Supp. 3d 1338, 1373 (D. Nev. 2014). In the leading case, the United States Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit held, "The meaning of advertisements or other representations to the public, and their tendency or capacity to mislead or deceive, are questions of fact[.]" *Kalwajtys v. F.T.C.*, 237 F.2d 654, 656 (7th Cir. 1956).⁴

The Court of Appeals here cited two decisions for the proposition that "some federal court decisions hold that capacity to deceive is a question of law." Slip Op. 12-13 (citing *F.T.C. v. Stefanchik*, 559 F.3d 924, 929 (9th Cir. 2009); *Consumer Fin. Prot. Bureau v. Gordon*, 819 F.3d 1179, 1192-

³ Only the FTC, with its unique role and special expertise, is qualified in the context of administrative proceedings to interpret advertisements without considering extrinsic evidence. *Kraft*, 970 F.2d at 381-20.

⁴ See also, e.g., Giant Food, Inc. v. F.T.C., 322 F.2d 977, 982 n.12 (D.C. Cir. 1963) (citing Kalwajtys); Carter Prods., Inc. v. F.T.C., 268 F.2d 461, 496 (9th Cir. 1959) ("The meaning of, and the truth or lack of truth in the florid advertising representations of Carter concerning the therapeutic worth of its pills, and also the tendency or capacity of its elaborate advertising to mislead and/or deceive the using public, presented questions of fact to be determined by the Commission under all of the evidence." (Footnote omitted.)); AMG Servs., 29 F. Supp. 3d at 1373 (citing Nat'l Bakers Servs., Inc. v. F.T.C., 329 F.2d 365, 367 (7th Cir. 1964) ("The meaning of an advertisement is a question of fact.")); F.T.C. v. Nat'l Urological Grp., Inc., 645 F. Supp. 2d 1167, 1189 (N.D. Ga. 2008), aff'd, 356 F. App'x 358 (11th Cir. 2009) ("The meaning of an advertisement, the claims or net impressions communicated to reasonable consumers, is fundamentally a question of fact."); F.T.C. v. QT, Inc., 448 F. Supp. 2d 908, 957-58 (N.D. Ill. 2006), aff'd, 512 F.3d 858 (7th Cir. 2008) ("The meaning of an advertisement, the claims or net impressions communicated to reasonable consumers, is a question of fact.").

93 (9th Cir. 2016)). But there is in fact no split in federal law about whether capacity to deceive is a question of fact or law. The Ninth Circuit in these cases did *not* hold that it is always a question of law. In fact, consistent with the question being presumptively a fact question, the court concluded in each case that the evidence submitted by the defendant in opposition to summary judgment *failed to raise a genuine issue of material fact* regarding capacity to deceive reasonable consumers. *See Stefanchik*, 559 F.3d at 929 (reasoning that the defendants contested only the FTC's survey methodology and "offered no competent affirmative evidence of their own"); *Gordon*, 819 F.3d at 1192-93 ("The only evidence Gordon submits in response are his 'bald assertions' that the mailer was not deceptive, which is not sufficient to create a triable issue of fact.").

B. Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(2) because the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with other published Court of Appeals decisions holding, consistent with federal law, that capacity to deceive is a question of fact.

Consistent with federal law, Division One of the Court of Appeals has previously held (in non-advertising cases) that capacity to deceive is a question of fact. *See, e.g., Holiday Resort Comm'ty Ass'n v. Echo Lake Assocs., LLC*, 134 Wn. App. 210, 226-27, 135 P.3d 499 (2006), *review denied*, 160 Wn.2d 1019 (2007); *Behnke v. Ahrens*, 172 Wn. App. 281, 292, 294 P.3d 729 (2012), *review denied*, 177 Wn.2d 1003 (2013).⁵ In conflict with those decisions, Division Two held in its decision here that an

 $^{^5}$ See also Walker v. Quality Loan Serv. Corp., 176 Wn. App. 294, 318, 308 P.3d 716 (2013); Fisher, 15 Wn. App. at 748.

advertisement's meaning and its capacity to deceive reasonable consumers are questions of law. Slip Op. at 12-13.

Division Two relied primarily on Division One's recent decision in *State v. Mandatory Poster Agency, Inc.*, 199 Wn. App. 506, 398 P.3d 1271, *review denied*, 189 Wn.2d 1021 (2017). Slip Op. at 12. *Mandatory Poster Agency* is likewise in conflict with *Holiday Resort* and *Behnke*: in *Mandatory Poster Agency*, Division One of the Court of Appeals held that, once the facts of the defendant's conduct are established, capacity to deceive is *always* a question of law. *Id.* at 519-22.

Division One in *Mandatory Poster Agency* acknowledged its past decisions in *Holiday Resort* and *Behnke*, but concluded that they were distinguishable. The court reasoned, "Those cases recognize only that the substantial portion of the public *component* of a deceptive act or practice may present a question of fact, not that a fact finder weighs whether a representation, omission, or practice is likely to mislead a reasonable consumer." *Id.* at 522 (emphasis added). But the phrase "substantial portion of the public" is not a separate "component" of the test for deceptiveness. As this Court recognized in adopting the rephrased federal test, "substantial portion of the public" means simply, "reasonable consumer[s]." *Panag*, 166 Wn.2d at 50.6

-

⁶ In characterizing "substantial portion of the public" as a numerical inquiry, the Court of Appeals confuses the unfair-or-deceptive element of a CPA claim with the public-interest-impact element. *See Hangman Ridge Training Stables, Inc. v. Safeco Title Ins. Co.*, 105 Wn.2d 778, 790, 719 P.2d 531 (1986).

To be sure, this Court has held in certain cases that whether undisputed conduct is unfair or deceptive was a question of law. See Lyons v. U.S. Bank Nat'l Ass'n, 181 Wn.2d 775, 786, 336 P.3d 1142 (2014) (citing Panag, 166 Wn.2d at 47; Leingang v. Pierce County Med. Bureau, Inc., 131 Wn.2d 133, 150, 930 P.2d 288 (1997)). But this Court has never so held in a case involving disputed extrinsic evidence on capacity to deceive. Indeed, this Court has recognized that a fact question may exist where deceptive statements are alleged. Guijosa v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 144 Wn.2d 907, 921, 32 P.3d 250 (2001) (observing that "the jury was free to determine what could constitute an unfair and deceptive act or practice" where deceptive statements were alleged). See also D. DeWolf, K. Allen, D. Caruso, 25 WASH. PRAC., CONTRACT LAW & PRACTICE § 14:26 (3d ed., updated November 2017) ("Whether an act or practice is unfair or deceptive is ordinarily a question for the fact finder.") (citing Burbo v. Harley C. Douglass, Inc., 125 Wn. App. 684, 700, 106 P.3d 258 (2005) (citing Guijosa, 144 Wn.2d at 921)).

Certainly, a fact question may be determined as a matter of law where reasonable minds could not differ. *See Hertog ex rel. S.A.H. v. City of Seattle*, 138 Wn.2d 265, 275, 979 P.2d 400 (1999); *Cyberspace.Com*, 453 F.3d at 1201 (holding that "no reasonable factfinder could conclude that the solicitation was not likely to deceive consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances"). But that does not mean that the question becomes *always* one of law. The Court of Appeals' decisions here and in *Mandatory Poster*

Agency conflict with *Holiday Resort* and *Behnke*. Review is thus warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

C. Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with decisions of this Court holding that expert testimony is not admissible to determine a question of law.

After holding that the questions of an advertisement's meaning and its capacity to deceive reasonable consumers were questions of law, Division Two of the Court of Appeals considered expert and consumer testimony in analyzing those issues. But this Court has repeatedly held that expert opinions are not admissible on questions of law. *See, e.g., Wash. State Physicians Ins. Exch. & Ass'n v. Fisons Corp.*, 122 Wn.2d 299, 344, 858 P.2d 1054 (1993) (citing *Orion Corp. v. State*, 103 Wn.2d 441, 461, 693 P.2d 1369 (1985)); *see also State v. Olmedo*, 112 Wn. App. 525, 532, 49 P.3d 960 (2002) ("Improper legal conclusions include testimony...that the defendant's conduct violated a particular law.").

Division One of the Court of Appeals took a different approach in *Mandatory Poster Agency*. Once it decided that capacity to deceive was a question of law, the court determined, based on its own review of the defendant's mailer alone, that the mailer had a deceptive net impression that was likely to mislead reasonable consumers. Without referencing *any* extrinsic evidence, the Court of Appeals determined as a matter of law that the defendant's mailer "mimic[ked] government-related forms and create[d] the net impression that the recipient is obligated to return the form and pay \$125 to CRS." *Mandatory Poster Agency*, 199 Wn. App. at 522-

24. The court also weighed the effect of disclosures to determine the mailer's "net impression." *Id.* at 523-24.

Unlike Division One, Division Two did not base its analysis strictly on review of the mailer itself. Instead, Division Two held that the State met its burden to establish deceptiveness with expert and consumer testimony that the mailer resembled a bill from a government agency and was likely to deceive consumers. Slip Op. 14-15. The Court concluded based on the extrinsic evidence that LRO's mailer "could have been reasonably mistaken for a bill." Slip Op. 16-17. The Court also referenced the expert testimony in weighing the allegedly misleading elements of the mailer against clarifying disclosures to assess whether they were "sufficiently prominent and unambiguous" to change the net impression on consumers. Slip Op. 17-19 (quoting Removatron Int'l Corp. v. F.T.C., 884 F.2d 1489, 1497 (1st Cir. 1989)).

Capacity to deceive should be analyzed as a fact question consistent with federal law. But if it is to be analyzed as a question of law, then under this Court's precedents expert testimony on the subject becomes impermissible opinion testimony to a legal conclusion. *See Fisons Corp.*, 122 Wn.2d at 344; *Orion Corp.*, 103 Wn.2d at 461. Division Two's decision is in conflict with those precedents. Review is thus warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

D. Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the legal and evidentiary standards for determining capacity to deceive are issues of substantial public interest that this Court should determine.

Even if there were no actual conflict between the decisions of our state appellate courts on whether capacity to deceive is a question of fact or law or whether extrinsic evidence is relevant and admissible, these standards govern all aspects of trade or commerce subject to the CPA and are thus issues of substantial public interest, important to consumers and businesses alike. This Court's guidance is needed in this area given (1) the multiple published decisions that appear at least on their on their face to be in conflict and (2) the clear departure of some decisions from federal law, which the legislature has directed should guide interpretation of the CPA, without analyzing the policy considerations that should guide such a departure. *See* RCW 19.86.920; *Blewett*, 86 Wn. App. at 787. Review is thus warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

VI. CONCLUSION

Review by this Court is warranted because the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with Court of Appeals decisions in other cases, including *Holiday Resort*, *Behnke*, and others, and with this Court's precedents, including *Fison Corp*. and *Orion Corp*. Review is also warranted because the legal and evidentiary standards for determining capacity to deceive are issues of substantial public interest that this Court should determine, and this Court's guidance is needed to clarify the law in this important area.