FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/13/2018 2:08 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 95600-6

Court of Appeals No. 48970-8-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

LA INVESTORS, LLC d/b/a LOCAL RECORDS OFFICE and ROBERTO ROMERO, a/k/a JUAN ROBERTO ROMERO ASCENCIO, individually and as a Member and Manager of LA INVESTORS, LLC, and on behalf of the marital community comprised of Roberto Romero and Laura Romero; and LAURA ROMERO, individually and as a Member and Manager of LA INVESTORS, LLC, and on behalf of the marital community comprised of Roberto Romero and Laura Romero,

Petitioners.

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

homeowner listed on the deed (e.g., John Doe) whose name was printed under a barcode. CP 492.

In response to the mailings, 9,695 Washington homeowners remitted payment to LA Investors. These homeowners received an uncertified copy of their deed along with a property profile containing publicly available information including "the property address, owner's name, comparable values, and legal description or parcel identification number, property history, neighborhood demographics, public and private schools report." CP 393.

B. In Response to Consumer Complaints Dozens of Media Outlets, Government Offices, and Consumer Watchdog Organizations Issued Warnings about LA Investors' Solicitations

At the time the State filed its lawsuit, it had received 65 consumer complaints regarding LA Investors.² CP 460. In an attempt to address apparent widespread consumer confusion that LA Investors' solicitation originated from a government agency or was a bill a consumer must otherwise pay, between 2012 and 2015, over three dozen government offices, media outlets, and consumer watchdog agencies across the country disseminated consumer alerts regarding the solicitation. CP 319-45; CP 493-500. For example, on May 3, 2013, the Yakima Herald-Republic

² The State continued to receive complaints after filing its lawsuit.

Newspaper published an article titled "Yakima County officials warn of property deed scam." The article stated in part:

Yakima County elected officials are warning residents to avoid a come-on from a company with an Olympia address that offers to provide them a copy of their property deed for \$89.

Deeds are available from the county Auditor's Office for \$1 per page.

Treasurer Ilene Thomson, Assessor Dave Cook and Auditor Corky Mattingly said the service offered by a firm called Local Records Office is unnecessary and should be ignored. Cook said he fears some residents, primarily the elderly, will feel obligated to send a check to the company.

Thomson said she became aware of the letter Thursday when a property owner brought in a copy and asked about its legitimacy.

CP 559-61.

C. Washington Consumers Received the Mailers and Were Deceived

Many Washington consumers believed LA Investors' mailer originated from the government or was a bill they must otherwise pay. For example, Seattle resident Erika Ludwig, received the LRO mailer and stated, "I thought the mailer was from a government agency and that payment was not optional." CP 645. Gwendelyn Marshall of Tumwater, WA, stated, "I thought the mailer was from a local title company since there was a return address in Olympia on the mailer. I felt that if I did not send my money that the title transfers would not be completed and that I was required to complete this." CP 648.

The State submitted declarations from a total of 25 Washington consumers who had been deceived or were otherwise concerned about the deceptive nature of LA Investors' solicitation. CP 615-702. The State also submitted the declaration and expert reports of Prof. Anthony Pratkanis, an experimental social psychologist at the University of California at Santa Cruz. CP 350-67, 369-77.

D. The Trial Court's Decision

On February 12, 2016, the trial court partially granted the State's motion for summary judgment and denied LA Investors' motion for partial summary judgment. CP 1180-85. In granting the State's motion, the trial court held that LA Investors committed 256,998 violations of the CPA. CP 1324. The trial court later specified the restitution process and imposed civil penalties pursuant to RCW 19.86.140 in the amount of \$2,569,980, which amounted to a \$10 penalty for each of the 256,998 CPA violations. CP 1324-25. The trial court awarded the State \$157,403.20 in fees and \$19,903.53 in costs pursuant to RCW 19.86.080(1).3 CP 1312-13.

E. The Court of Appeals Decision

On February 13, 2018, Division Two of the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court judgment in a published opinion. Citing Supreme

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW - 6

³ As of the date of this Answer, LA Investors has neither posted a supersedeas bond with the trial court in accordance with RAP 8.1, nor has it paid any portion of this judgment to the State.

Court and other precedent, Division Two reviewed the undisputed facts and held that, "[A]s a matter of law the mailer...had the capacity to deceive. Based on the net impression conveyed by the mailer, an ordinary consumer could reasonably have been misled to believe it was a government document." Slip op. at 15. Further, citing *State v. Mandatory Poster Agency, Inc.*, 199 Wn. App. 506, 398 P.3d 1271, *review denied*, 189 Wn.2d 1021 (2017), Division Two held that "whether an undisputed act had the capacity to deceive a substantial portion of the public is a question of law." *Id* at 12.

V. REASONS THE PETITION SHOULD BE DENIED

The issues raised by LA Investors do not involve issues of substantial public interest and are not in conflict with precedent. Therefore, the Petition should be denied under RAP 13.4.

A. Whether an act or practice has the capacity to deceive is always a question of law.

LA Investors argues that there is a conflict among the divisions of Court of Appeals as to whether the issue of deception must always be a question of law. There is not. In *Panag v. Farmers Insurance Company of Washington*, 166 Wn.2d 27, 204 P.3d 885 (2009), this Court held that whether a particular act is unfair or deceptive is a question of law:

The next issue is whether, as CCS contends, the first *Hangman Ridge* element has been established. Whether a particular act or practice is "unfair or deceptive" is a question of law. *Leingang v. Pierce County Med. Bureau, Inc.*, 131 Wash.2d 133, 150, 930 P.2d 288 (1997). A plaintiff need not

show the act in question was intended to deceive, only that it had the capacity to deceive a substantial portion of the public. *Id*.

Id. at 47; Leingang v. Pierce Cnty. Med. Bur., Inc., 131 Wn.2d 133, 149-50, 930 P.2d 288 (1997) ("The issue here is whether PCM committed an 'unfair or deceptive act.' Whether a party in fact committed a particular act is reviewable under the substantial evidence test. However, the determination of whether a particular statute applies to a factual situation is a conclusion of law. Consequently, whether a particular action gives rise to a Consumer Protection Act violation is reviewable as a question of law."); see also Mandatory Poster, 199 Wn. App. at 520 n. 36 (listing 17 additional cases with the same holding).

Despite LA Investors' arguments to the contrary, it is well settled that an act's capacity to deceive is a question of law. The Court of Appeals correctly applied this standard. The material facts before the trial court were undisputed. Nearly 257,000 mailers were sent to Washington homeowners, all using the same form and content. Based on these undisputed facts, Division Two properly determined – as a matter of law – that the mailers were deceptive.

Because there is no existing gap in Washington case law, there is no need for this Court – or any other Washington court – to look to federal cases in an attempt to fill a nonexistent void. But even if there were a void,

such decisions are not binding. *See* Slip op. at 12 ("Washington courts are instructed to look to appropriate federal court decisions for guidance when addressing issues involving the CPA. But federal court decisions are guiding, not binding, authority.") (citations omitted). Accordingly, LA Investors' analysis of the history of the Federal Trade Commission (FTC) Act and related federal opinions does nothing to advance its misguided argument that an act's capacity to deceive is a question of fact. More to the point, other than a bald assertion, LA Investors fails to articulate how the Court of Appeals' application of well-settled law is a matter of substantial public interest.

Although LA Investors claims a conflict with other divisions of the Court of Appeals, those other decisions do not address the same issue presented here. In reality, there is no conflict. The Court of Appeals held, consistent with this Court's prior holdings, that the first element of a Consumer Protection Act (CPA) claim – capacity to deceive – was a question of law. See Slip op. at 11. In attempting to show a conflict, LA Investors relies on cases addressing a different aspect of a CPA claim – the public interest element. See Pet. for Review at 7 (citing Holiday Resort Comm'ty Ass'n v. Echo Lake Assocs., LLC, 134 Wn. App. 210, 226-27, 135 P.3d 499 (2006), review denied, 160 Wn.2d 1019 (2007); Behnke v. Ahrens, 172 Wn. App. 281, 292, 294 P.3d 729 (2012), review denied, 177 Wn.2d

1003 (2013)). But in *State v. Mandatory Poster Agency, Inc.*, 199 Wn. App. 506, 398 P.3d 1271, *review denied*, 189 Wn.2d 1021 (2017), Division One properly rejected this dubious theory. In the *Mandatory Poster Agency* opinion, Division One of the Court of Appeals explained that there was no conflict with past precedent, and applied well-established law. ("[Appellant's] reliance on *Holiday Resort*⁴ *and Behnke*⁵ is misplaced. Those cases recognize only that the substantial portion of the public component of a deceptive act or practice may present a question of fact, not that a fact finder weighs whether a representation, omission, or practice is likely to mislead a reasonable consumer.") *Id* at 522.

In this case, Division Two agreed with the Division One decision in *Mandatory Poster*, explaining, "In this case, the only issue is whether [LA Investors] committed an unfair or deceptive act in violation of the CPA because [its] mailer had the capacity to deceive a substantial portion of the public. [LA Investors] asserts this issue presents a question of fact. *We*

⁴ Holiday Resort Community Ass'n v. Echo Lake Assocs., LLC, 134 Wn. App. 210, 226, 135 P.3d 499 (2006) ("Whether an alleged act is unfair or deceptive is a question of

law.")

⁵ Behnke v. Ahrens, 172 Wn. App. 281, 292-93, 294 P.3d 729 (2012) ("Washington courts have not tried to decide as a matter of law whether the potential victims of a deceptive act or practice are sufficiently numerous to qualify as 'a substantial portion of the public.' *** In applying the requirement that the allegedly deceptive act has the capacity to deceive 'a substantial portion of the public,' the concern of Washington courts has been to rule out those deceptive acts and practices that are unique to the relationship between plaintiff and defendant. The definition of 'unfair' and 'deceptive' must be objective to prevent every consumer complaint from becoming a triable violation of the act.") (citations omitted).

disagree, and conclude that the trial court properly analyzed the issue as a question of law." Slip op. at 11 (emphasis added). Thus, this case represents a uniformity of opinion among the circuits, not a conflict.

While not a conflict for purposes of RAP 13.4(b)(2), LA Investors cites two federal cases as support for their position that capacity to deceive should be a question of fact. Neither of these cases serves as a basis for departing from existing Washington law. LA Investors cites *Kalwajtys v. F.T.C.*, 237 F.2d 654, 656 (7th Cir. 1956), but this case reviewed an FTC administrative cease and desist order and has no relevance to whether the first element of a CPA case is a question of law. LA Investors also cites *F.T.C. v. AMG Servs., Inc.*, 29 F. Supp. 3d 1338, 1373 (D. Nev. 2014) to suggest that a judge is not properly trained to decide whether a practice is deceptive, but LA Investors' selected quotation from the magistrate's decision fails to mention that the magistrate actually granted the FTC summary judgment:

Second, even in the context of advertisements, summary judgment is appropriate where – as here – the representation is clearly misleading and the defendant relies exclusively on the fine print to correct the misrepresentation. See *F.T.C. v. Gill*, 265 F.3d 944, 957 n. 10 (9th Cir.2001); (affirming the district court's granting of summary judgment where "at least one of defendants' [advertisement representations] is illegal as a matter of law"); *Cyberspace.Com LLC*, 453 F.3d at 1200 (stating that a representation "may be likely to mislead by virtue of the net impression to makes even though the [representation] also contains truthful disclosures [in the

fine print]"); Figgie Int'l, Inc., 994 F.2d at 604 (stating that truthful fine print disclosures do not render a representation not deceptive); Floersheim, 411 F.2d at 876–78 (stating the same); Brown & Williamson Tobacco Corp., 778 F.2d at 42–3 (stating the same); (see also Def.'s Opp'n (# 493) at 43:23–45:8) (relying exclusively on the fine print to correct Defendants' TILA box representations).

Id. at 1373. This decision is in accord with Ninth Circuit precedent. See F.T.C. v. Cyberspace.Com LLC, 453 F.3d 1196, 1201 (9th Cir. 2006) (reviewing the contents of solicitation checks sent to 4.4 million small businesses and individuals, and affirming Judge Lasnik's grant of summary judgment in favor of the FTC). LA Investors' apparent suggestion that judges lack the training and ability to determine whether an act or practice is deceptive is curious. Indeed, even if such a position were accepted, a judge would *still* have to decide if an act or practice is deceptive because a state CPA action is an equitable action tried to the court. See State ex. rel. Dep't of Ecology v. Anderson, 94 Wn.2d 727, 620 P.2d 76 (1980) (CPA action by the state is an equitable action and there is no jury trial.) Moreover, because LA Investors did not identify any material questions of fact at the trial court, it is unclear how such a theory, even if accepted, would change the outcome in this case. Apparently satisfied with the trial court judge's ability to rule on deceptiveness, LA Investors filed its own motion for partial summary judgment in the trial court. CP 821-40.

B. A judge may properly consider expert opinions when ruling on the question of deception as part of a motion for summary judgment.

In submitting Anthony Pratkanis' declaration as part of its motion for summary judgment, the State sought to aid the trial court judge in her understanding of consumer perception and marketing. Contrary to LA Investors' assertion, this expert report did not contain any legal conclusions. *See* Pet. for Review at 11. Rather, it helped inform the judge on (1) LA Investors' marketing strategies, and (2) how consumers process information. Indeed, the State's expert never opined that LA Investors' solicitation had the capacity to deceive consumers. The expert report was therefore, properly considered.

The cases cited by LA Investors in support of its argument do not show a conflict. Rather, these cases stand for the well-established rule that expert witnesses may not offer *legal conclusions* disguised as expert testimony, not that experts are prohibited from providing testimony that aids a judge in assessing an act's capacity to deceive or other questions of law. For example, in *Orion Corp. v. State*, 103 Wn.2d 441, 461-462, 693 P.2d 1369 (1985), a case cited by LA Investors, the court explains, "To the extent the affidavit contained legal conclusions it is to be disregarded *but the rest of the affidavit can properly be considered*." (emphasis added).

Even assuming arguendo that the State's expert included improper legal conclusions in his report, as noted above, when ruling on motions for summary judgment, courts are free to disregard any legal conclusions and consider a declaration for any other lawful purpose. In Cotton v. Kronenberg, 111 Wn. App. 258, 267, 44 P.3d 878, review denied, 148 Wn.2d 1011 (2003), Division One affirmed the trial court's granting of summary judgment in favor of a plaintiff who filed a lawsuit alleging breach of fiduciary duty against an attorney. In so doing, the Court of Appeals held that it was proper for the trial court to consider plaintiff's expert declaration submitted as part of his motion for summary judgment, explaining, "The [trial] court properly considered [the expert's] declaration, having disregarded its legal conclusions." See also F.T.C. v. Stefanchik, 559 F.3d 924, 929 (9th Cir. 2009) ("The FTC...offered substantial evidence [including a survey conducted by its expert] that the marketing claims... were deceptive and misleading to an overwhelming number of consumers...[W]e conclude that the district court correctly granted summary judgment on the FTC Act claim because the marketing material made misrepresentations in a manner likely to mislead reasonable consumers.") (emphasis added). There is no conflict and this Court should deny review.

VI. THE COURT SHOULD AWARD THE STATE ATTORNEY FEES AND COSTS INCURRED IN ANSWERING LA INVESTORS' PETITION

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